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The house, built by Jonathan Warner in 1798 is remarkably the same in 
appearance today^ as it was when he supervised its construction. It con­ 
sists of two stories and a full attic over a raised basement of granite. 
The clapboards are graduated in width decreasing to about two inches at 
the sill. The front door with fanlight and side lights is framed by 
fluted pilasters which support a pediment with pulvinated frieze and 
dentil molding. The Palladian window above the door has plain pilasters 
and prominent wooden keystones. The entablature above is brought forward 
to form a central pavillion and is supported by two free standing Ionic 
columns on brownstone pedestals. Three steps leading to the doorway are 
of the same brownstone. The cornice is decorated by modillions above a 
carved fret. The dentil molding above the front door is repeated above 
the windows on the first floor. The four corners of the house have 
fluted Doric piers or posts on wooden pedestals. The louvered blinds are 
a later addition.

Windows, entrance, and entire facade are illustrated by J. Frederick 
Kelly in The Early Domestic Architecture of Connecticut, facing pages 
80, 92, 120,190.* An open porch on the east side of the house was added 
about 1924 by the present owner who took great pains to match the stone 
work of the foundation and had the carving beneath the cornice repeated. 
The wing which now contains the kitchen was added at an undetermined 
date in the nineteenth century on the site of an earlier leanto. The 
original dimensions of the house as set forth in a letter of January 1, 
1798, from Jonathan Warner to Abisha Woodward, a well known builder in 
New London, .inviting him to "undertake, the Joiner work" were "42 by 33 
and 19 feet post with a leanto on the back 9 feet wide open in the middle 
and a small room, at each end 8 feet post and will be framed so as to 
come under the Chamber windows." This would account for the fact that 
there is only one window in the rear of the house on the first floor. 
The well is located in the open area between what would have been the two 
sections.

The first floor has a center hall or passage way with open newel 
ramped stairs of pine. A square-topped newel post ends the bracketed 
stair rail which has square balusters placed so the corners are toward 
the newel post, perhaps for greater strength. The profile of the hand­ 
rail is reflected in pine wainscote along the opposite wall. One wall 
of the hallway was removed to open it to the west parlor. A wide complex

1 S. Frederick Kelly, The Early Domestic Architecture of Connecticut, 
New York, 1963.

2 Jonathan Warner to Abisha Woodward, Januaryl f 1798, manuscript in the 
possession of Malcolm G. Brooks.
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bolection molding is found in the hall and throughout the house. All doors 
have fielded panels.

The two front rooms have a low sub-base rail and the corner posts have 
an ovalo on the inner corner. Mantels in all the rooms are different. 
In the east front room there are Doric pilasters below, but not above, the 
mantel shelf. The landscape panel above the mantel is richly molded, 
broken by a small raised panel which is repeated below. The mantel shelf 
is supported by bold uncarved moldings of the entablature above the pilas­ 
ters. The mantel of the front west chamber has Doric pilasters above and 
below the mantel shelf. The landscape panel is more simply molded and 
does not have the center raised panel.

A short passage along the outer wall of the chimney connects the front 
and rear chambers on both floors. The large room at the end of the stair 
hall was the original kitchen and the large fireplace has a simple mantel 
and no overpanel. There is a stairway beside the fireplace which leads 
to the second floor and to the attic. A stone in the rear wall of the 
fireplace was removable to allow ashes to be swept into the cellar, from 
which they could be removed. The rear East room is the only room with a 
mantel which extends into the room. There are pilasters above and below 
the boldly molded mantel shelf.

On the second floor, the two front bedrooms have fireplaces with less 
ornate mantels and overmantels each with kneed architrave and cushioned 
frieze framing the fireplace and repeated on the panels above.

A modern bathroom has been added at the rear of the second floor.
The full attic has two windows at the east and west end, a loft above 

and a skylight. The cellar has a fireplace and smoke chamber. Throughout 
the house the hardware is original, as are the twelve over twelve windows. 
The lower sash of the windows on the first floor have weights with grooves 
in the window frames.

In the letter to Abisha Woodward quoted above, Jonathan Warner men­ 
tions what might have been his model "The uprite part is the same Bigness 
as Mr. Miller's and calculated so except a small alteration in the Chamber 
Stairs which I think may save work and be more convenient."3

Warner built a great Federal country house which is completely docu­ 
mented: names of workmen, suppliers, materials, etc. are preserved in 
letter, bills and inventories which were given to the present owner. The 
total cost of building was L 1616-11-ld, approximately $5,388.00 The 
house was built when Jonathan was 70, and he enjoyed it for only a few 
years. It remained in the Warner family until 1922 when it was purchased 
by Malcolm Brooks who has preserved both building, documents, and sur­ 
rounding orchards and gardens so that it remains a unique example of the 
country house of the affluent merchant farmer of the time.

3 Perhaps this is Jeremiah Miller, a New London merchant.
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A nineteenth century carriage house was moved from across the 
Middlesex turnpike to the rear of the house where it serves as a garage. 
Other structures, such as the craft house erected near the ferry for weav­ 
ing and spinning, and two other houses and barns, no longer exist.
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for the course it was to take when building began in 1802.
When he built his house he used local workmen and timber. Glass 

and paint were brought from New York, wallpaper from Hartford, and stone 
and hardware were brought from Haddam, Chatham, New London, New York, 
and East Haddam. Bills and letters documenting these purchases have 
been carefully preserved and are significant in reflecting costs of the 
time. The existence of a manuscript collection relating to this well 
preserved architectural masterpiece makes the building particularly 
significant in the interpretation of state and local history.
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The house which Jonathan Warner left so completely documented is 
important as an example of how the wealthy merchant-farmer of the area 
lived. The period in which he built his house was a time when handsome 
buildings were constructed in the area. Gideon Leete, Warner's partner 
in the merchant vessel, Matilda, planned a house which was completed in 
1796 (the Leete-Ely house in Chester), and his neighbor and friend, 
Epaphroditus Champion, built his mansion on the Upper Landing in East 
Haddam in 1794, The house also suggests the richness of town houses in 
nearby New London if indeed it was modelled on that of New London merchant 
Jeremiah Miller. Few of these great houses have survived and there are 
none in the lower Connectibut River Valley with so much of the original 
setting preserved.

Jonathan Warner was first of all a farmer. He was born in what is 
now Chester in 1728, and lived his entire life in Chester and Lyme. He 
inherited land which had been purchased by his grandfather, Andrew Warner, 
in 1697. He bought all the property inherited by his brothers and sisters, 
establishing an estate of dver 100 acres' iri the mids't of which he built 
his great house. He owned land on both sides of the river and established 
a ferry between Chester and Hadlyme in 1769. He worked closely with Gov. 
Trumbull and the Commissary of Provisions for Connecticut during the 
Revolution, in transporting supplies to the troops.

The land was farmed to supply the family; the inventory of livestock 
included cows for milk and cheese, calves, pigs, sheep, turkeys and geese 
and working oxen. He probably used some of his own produce in the trade 
with the Caribbean, as did many merchant farmers. Although there are 
only 28 of the original acres today, the house stands in the same position 
in the midst of its orchards and fields as it did in 1798.

In addition to farming, Warner was engaged in a successful shipping 
business, both coastwise and to the Caribbean. He was a partner in the 
ventures of the brig Matilda until she was seized by the French in 1799. 
The ferry he established in 1769 remained in the family until mid-nine­ 
teenth century. Still in operation, it is the second oldest in Connec­ 
ticut and is owned by the Connecticut Department of Transportation.

Warner was an important member of his community, serving as consta­ 
ble and then justice of the peace, in which capacity he probably heard 
cases in his parlor. He served on the school committee for many years 
and helped to raise money for a new school in 1801. Before that, he 
served on the committee to plan the building of a new church (1793), now 
the Old Town Hall of Chester, (National Register of Historic Places). 
He was a director of the Middlesex Turnpike and was largely responsible
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The Warner-Brooks House is located on an estate which represents only 
a portion of the original holdings. However, the 22 acres around the 
house preserves the country house environment which is unique in Connect­ 
icut for houses of this period and elegance. The barn which now serves 
as a garage is the only one of the original buildings of the farm. 
The garden is situated in what was the original barnyard. The orchards 
are still maintained but the land is no longer farmed and there is no 
livestock.

The estate was a self sufficient working farm. Oxen, a horse, cows, 
calves, heifers, pigs, sheep were included in the livestock. There were 
flocks of turkeys and geese. Milk was made into cheese, and wool was 
used for spinning and weaving. For this purpose, a Craft House was built 
near the Ferry House. Neither now exists.

The importance of the present acreage is vital to the setting of a 
gentleman-farmer's estate and it preserves for Chester and the lower 
valley a picture of life on the estate of a well-to-do merchant farmer 
of the period. The house is a country house and at least this much 
of its "country" remains intact.
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